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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN 
	Applicant
	Professor Richard Parish

	Scheme
	NHS Pension Scheme

	Respondents
	National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE)


Subject

Professor Parish claims:

· that he was not dismissed for reasons relating to his performance and that spurious reasons were given for his dismissal to deny him the enhanced pension to which he would otherwise have been entitled;
· the decision reached by NICE’s predecessor (the Health Development Agency- “the Agency”) on 25 January 2005 was improperly reached and /or was perverse.

The Deputy Pensions Ombudsman’s determination and short reasons
The complaint should not be upheld against NICE because: 
· the true reasons for the Board’s decision to dismiss Professor Parish were those 
set out in the Second Report;
·  the Board’s decision (that Professor Parish’s contract was not terminated in the 
interests of efficiency) was not one that no reasonable decision maker could 
have reached, alternatively this is a matter that has already been determined by 
the court.  
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DETAILED DETERMINATION

Relevant Provisions

1. Regulation E3(2)(b)of the National Health Service Pension Scheme Regulations 1995 (SI 300/1995) (“the 1995 Regulations”) as amended, provides that a member whose pensionable employment is terminated by his employing authority shall be entitled to a pension if the Secretary of State certifies:

“(i)
that the member’s employment is terminated by reason of redundancy, or

(ii)
with the agreement of the employing authority, that the member’s employment is terminated in the interests of the efficiency of the service in which he is employed …”

2. Paragraph 2.14 of the NHS Early Retirement Arrangements Guidelines dated 28 April 1995 provides:
“NHS employers may seek early retirement of individual members of staff (including clinical medical and dental staff) in the interests of the efficiency of the service, where performance

· although acceptable in the past, has consistently declined over a period of time to an unacceptable level, and 

· after appropriate remedial action has been taken, is considered unlikely to improve.”

3. Paragraphs 2.15-2.18 of the Guidelines provide:

“2.15
For each individual, consideration should first have been given to resolving the situation by measures such as:
· remedial training 
· flexible working patterns
· transfer to other duties or to suitable alternative    employment
· more effective supervision 

2.16
Retirements in this category should be rare. The decision to retire an individual early should be taken only as the last resort when it is clearly in the overall interests of the efficiency of the service to do so.   

2.17
These arrangements should not be used where an employee’s conduct is in question.  In these circumstances, appropriate disciplinary proceedings should be initiated.


2.18
When an employee is prepared to accept that early retirement under these arrangements is the most appropriate course of action, the employer should seek their written agreement.  However, early retirement can be imposed on an employee if the circumstances described in paragraph 2.14 apply.”

Material Facts
Introduction
4. The parties to this complaint have been involved in a number of legal proceedings in other forums. Professor Parish’s complaint arises as a result of the decision by Keith J in the Administrative Court of the High Court on 6 March 2009 which followed his earlier decision dated 20 January 2009 (the Judgement). The case references for the judgements are (2009) EWHC 32 and (2009) EWHC 969 respectively.   

5. Professor Parish was employed by the Agency as its first Chief Executive from January 2000 until 25 May 2003, having been given six months’ notice of dismissal on 22 November 2002.  

6. The Agency was established early in 2000 as part of the Government’s modernising agenda for public services and replaced the Health Education Authority (HEA).  The role of the Agency as outlined in the White Paper entitled “Saving Lives: Our Healthier Nation” was to promote health and remove health inequalities through the use of an evidence database which would be maintained by the Agency.

7. NICE subsequently succeeded (on 1 April 2005) to the rights and liabilities of the Agency. For the purposes of my determination I propose to refer throughout to “the Agency” and “NICE” interchangeably. In 2000/2001 the Agency received 92% of its funding from the Department of Health (the Department).

The Employment Tribunal application

8. Professor Parish brought proceedings in an Employment Tribunal complaining that the Agency had failed to provide him with written reasons for his dismissal, that his dismissal was unfair and in breach of his contract of employment. 

9. Written reasons for his dismissal were provided on 26 March 2003. These were: lack of strategic focus to define the role that the Agency should play in public health development; failure of managerial grip on important issues; insufficient effective leadership of the Management Team and; failure to convince the Department that he had been able to articulate a clear role for the Agency to advocate its value and impact.  
10. Professor Parish then applied to the Employment Tribunal on 9 July 2003 claiming that his dismissal was for reasons unrelated to his performance and was not for a potentially fair reason.  He denied that the reasons given by the Agency were the true reasons for his dismissal and claimed that the true reason was that senior officials at the Department had told the Chairman that it was time for a change in leadership. 
11. The claim for unfair dismissal was settled the day before the full merits hearing before the Employment Tribunal and on 10 May 2004 Professor Parish signed a Compromise Agreement with the Agency which provided:

“The Employee hereby waives and compromises all claims which the Employee has or may have as at the date of this Agreement against the Agency, ……..arising out of the Employee’s employment with the Agency or relating to its termination or relating to legal proceedings, including, without prejudice to the generality of the above, any claim for unfair dismissal under the Employment Rights Act 1996, any claim for breach of his contract of employment and any claim for the costs of any legal proceedings save that is expressly acknowledged that this Agreement does not compromise any claim which the Employee has or may wish to bring in respect of his pension including any claim that he is entitled to an immediate unreduced pension.” 
The Application for enhanced benefits and the Board’s Decision
12. On 23 November 2004, Professor Parish applied to the Agency to receive his “enhanced full early retirement benefits under the terms of the NHS Pension Scheme” stating that his employment had been terminated in circumstances which entitled him to enhanced full early retirement benefits. 
13. The Board met on 25 January 2005. It unanimously resolved that “there was no question of Professor Parish being dismissed in the interests of efficiency” and that even if his performance had been in the less serious part of the spectrum, it would not have exercised its discretion to agree that he should be regarded as having been dismissed in the interests of the efficiency of the service. 

14. Professor Parish applied for judicial review of this decision on 22 April 2005.  He argued that even if the reasons NICE (as it then was known) gave were the true reasons for his dismissal, its’ decision, that those reasons fell outside the “efficiency” grounds, was perverse. Following consideration of the documents lodged by Professor Parish and by NICE permission was refused on 2 June 2005. So far as NICE was concerned, the reason given by the judge (Stanley Burnton J as he then was) was as follows:

“As its acknowledgement of service demonstrates, the First Defendant correctly construed the phrase “the members’ employment was terminated in the interests of the efficiency of the service in which he (was) employed. It was entitled to determine that the termination of the claimant’s employment did not satisfy this requirement”.    
The Complaint

15. Professor Parish was unhappy with the Board’s decision and, on 20 April 2005, he made a complaint to this office against the Agency. A decision was made on 23 August 2006 to discontinue the investigation of his complaint but this decision was quashed by Keith J on 6 March 2009. In his judgment of 20 January 2009 he summarised Professor Parish’s complaint as follows: 

“He had therefore not been dismissed for reasons relating to his performance: spurious reasons relating to his supposedly poor performance had been given for his dismissal to deny him the enhanced pension to which he would otherwise have been entitled. Accordingly he was now asking the Ombudsman to investigate the true reasons for his dismissal, and to decide whether in the light of what the Ombudsman concluded the true reason for Prof Parish’s dismissal had been, his dismissal should be regarded as having been in the interests of the efficiency of the service”
16. Therefore the issues for me to consider are: (i) what were the true reasons for Professor Parish’s dismissal and (ii) in the light of what I concluded were the true reasons for his dismissal, should his dismissal have been regarded as having been in the interests of the efficiency of the service.  
17. In support of his complaint Professor Parish has submitted extensive documentation most of which derives from the Trial Bundle agreed between the parties for the hearing before the Employment Tribunal.  NICE has not submitted a separate set of documents and relies on the evidence prepared for the Employment Tribunal. Both parties have made extensive submissions to me.
18. The evidence from the Employment Tribunal case includes: details of Professor Parish’s application to the Tribunal; the response from NICE; directions and orders made by the Tribunal; Professor Parish’s contract of employment and recruitment details; policies and guidance notes; staff survey report; business plans, annual reports, audit reports, minutes of Board meetings and notes of other meetings; relevant correspondence and attendance notes.

19. Numerous witness statements and testimonials were filed with the Tribunal. For NICE, statements are from the Chairman, three non Executive Directors, one Executive Director and Professor N. Supplemental statements were made at the end of April 2004 by the Chairman, by one of the non Executive Directors and the Executive Director.
20. For Professor Parish there is a personal statement; statements from his wife, from the former Deputy Chief Medical Officer at the Department at the time of his employment with the Agency (who is related to him by marriage), from the former financial controller at the Agency and from a researcher at the Agency during the first year of his tenure. He also filed testimonials, an attendance note prepared by his solicitors following a conversation in November 2005 with the former Director of Health Improvement at the Agency and one of the Executive Directors ( Dr S) after she had been made redundant by NICE in late 2004 as well as a recent supplementary personal statement from Professor Parish. 
21.  Professor Parish asked me to hold an oral hearing. He suggested that it would be fundamentally unfair and unjust for me to refuse his request as, in his view, cross examination of the main protagonists (himself and the Chairman) is highly relevant to my fact finding role, which Keith J referred to. He also says that both parties have asked for an oral hearing. It is correct that NICE asked for an oral hearing at an early stage in the investigation process but shortly thereafter contended that there was no need for an oral hearing and that the case should be dealt with on a consideration of the papers, unless I was minded to determine that its officers were guilty of dishonesty and duplicity. As I was not minded to reach such a finding, NICE’s request fell away.  

22. After carefully considering Professor Parish’s request, I decided not to hold an oral hearing. My procedures are investigative as opposed to adversarial and I have the discretion to hold an oral hearing (even if one is not requested by either party) if I think it appropriate and subject to the requirement of fairness. Although there are disputed factual issues involved here, I considered that I could properly determine the case on the basis of the detailed written representations and the extensive documentation submitted by the parties, the vast majority of documents being those filed in the Employment Tribunal proceedings. Bearing in mind the passage of time since the events in question occurred and the tendency for memories to fade and for positions to harden, I did not consider that it would assist me, in reaching my determination, to hold an oral hearing in order to hear repeated orally the evidence submitted and the submissions made. I considered that a far more reliable basis on which to reach my conclusion was on the basis of the papers alone, including the more contemporaneous evidence.
Background  
2000
23. The Job/Person Specification for the post of Chief Executive set out the principal purposes for the role: to work with the Chair and the Board to create and develop an effective and powerful organisation to improve health for the people of England; managing the transition of resources from the HEA to the Agency; to be responsible for the overall performance of the Agency; for setting and driving its strategic vision and direction; for ensuring the effective planning and commissioning of work; to be the Accounting Officer responsible to Parliament for the efficient and effective use of public funds and to be a member of the Board. In addition there were 12 specific responsibilities.   

24. The Personal Specification made clear the requirement for a dynamic Chief Executive who could provide leadership and a clear sense of direction and who could develop the confidence and support of individuals and agencies which the Agency would have to co-operate with. There were eight competencies. Apart from the technical knowledge and skills required, these included the ability to develop, define and work towards longer term goals, the ability to work with relevant organisations, to initiate and implement change at organisational team and individual level, to achieve objectives, to plan the delivery of work within available resources, prepare the budget and to ensure that activities were completed within the planned time and cost to a quality standard. Great emphasis was placed on the high order of leadership, management, personal and professional skills required.    
25. Professor Parish’s contract provided that the starting date of his employment in the NHS was to be regarded as the commencement of his employment with the Agency for the purposes of continuous employment.

26.  His contract described his duties as consisting of those assigned to him from time to time by the Chairman and provided that he would do all in his power to promote develop and extend the activities of the Agency and at all times and in all respects conform to and comply with the proper and reasonable directions of the Chairman. Reference was made to Performance Reviews the primary objective of which was to help him achieve the best possible level of performance but unsatisfactory performance (assessed as required) might be regarded as grounds for action under the Agency’s disciplinary and dismissal procedures. His obligations to the Agency included the obligation to perform his duties properly and to the best of his ability. He was expected to co-operate with other directors and employees in the performance of their duties.  Parts of the Whitley Council General Conditions of Service for the Health Service were incorporated into his contract.
27. Professor Parish was set formal objectives during the first six months of his appointment and on 2 August 2000 the Chairman wrote to him to record what had been achieved during that period.  She recognised that the period had been a demanding and difficult one and acknowledged the achievements due to his leadership during the transitional period, that he was held in high esteem externally and that his appointment had helped enhance the organisation’s reputation. She was also pleased with the work he had done externally to enhance the organisation’s reputation with the Department and external stakeholders. She concluded by saying that all in all it had been a most successful start, but referred to strained relationships with more junior staff at the Department over the Business Plan which it was important to get right.  She stressed that this was a critical working relationship for the Agency’s long term survival and credibility. Four pages covering six objectives were set, to be reviewed in February 2001.
2001

28. The Audit Plan to January 2001 identified a number of key issues relating to accounts, performance management and financial aspects of corporate governance which needed to be addressed.  

29. Following Professor Parish’s appraisal in February, the majority of objectives and indicators for how the objectives were to be achieved were either marked “Partly achieved” or “ Not achieved” and it was noted that there would need to be some rethinking in 2002, for instance, if overspend was to be avoided. 

30. The Agency’s first accountability review meeting was held with the Department on 7 March which, according to the Chairman, was awkward because it was clear that the Department considered that the documentation which had been submitted fell far short of requirements. Without appropriate documentation the Department said it could not advise the Minister that the Agency had met its Business Plan for 2000/2001.  According to Professor Parish this meeting showed that the Department was not yet in a position to confirm the budget for the year from 1 April 2001.
31. On 16 March 2001 Professor N, the Head of Public Health Division at the Department, wrote to Professor Parish to record the points they had discussed at the meeting. He hoped the meeting had given the Agency a sense of what the annual process involved which he said was standard practice for all arm’s length agencies. 

32. The review dealt with past performance and progress against key targets, the Corporate Plan for 2001-2004 and the Business Plan for 2001-2002. Professor N indicated the further details required to enable the Department to complete the review and said he hoped that they could rapidly progress to agreement, subject to Ministerial approval, of the Business Plan and indicated the details to be included.  As for the Corporate Plan, he confirmed that, as agreed, he had received the current draft to enable the Department to offer early views on the strategic direction of the Agency. 
33. On 25 March Professor Parish sent the Chairman a note of their discussions the previous week, setting out 11 key points on future strategic direction. These points covered: the activities and the roles which the Agency should undertake (such as its role in advising government departments and other agencies, commissioning, overseeing and analysing evidence); the importance of maintaining the initiative and of concentrating on a limited number of priority areas; the need for the organisation’s expertise to relate to its core functions and commissioning rather than to subject and content (e.g. it should not be involved in “coal face” delivery of programmes); the importance of agreeing priorities with the Department in the longer term (thereby avoiding difficulties associated with year to year planning) and of agreeing a three year financial planning cycle with the Department.  
34. On 9 April a member of the Department wrote to the Director of Corporate Resources at the Agency with reference to the draft Business Plan which had been passed to him the previous week. The writer did not think it could be circulated to his colleagues in its current form. He listed 13 points which indicated the Department’s difficulties with the Plan and which he wanted to go through. The critical point, he said, was that the Department did not clearly understand what it was being offered for its £10 million funding despite a meeting the previous month when it was felt that there was a close fit between the framework of priorities the Department had shared with the Agency and the emerging Business Plan. 
35. The following day the Chairman sent an email to Professor Parish and to the other Executive Directors.  She said that she had been called by Professor N who highlighted problems on the Business Plan (such as that it included items which were not priorities, elements were opaque and difficult to understand, figures did not add up and were presented in ways which did not meet Departmental standards). He identified, in particular that it failed to convey a clear view of what the organisation would deliver in the next year and that as such it would be difficult to advise the Minister. He had implied that unless the Agency could demonstrate that it was managing the existing £10 million properly and deliver what was expected, the case for more resources would always be weaker. 

36. According to Professor Parish’s draft note of a meeting on 19 April the Chief Medical Officer acknowledged that the Agency had started well in its first year although he said these were early days.  There was much discussion with respect to the financial pressures facing the Agency (some of which it was recognised it had no control over) and the Agency’s core expertise. The Chief Medical Officer described three roles for the Agency: as a source of advice on achieving public health goals, a designer of public health programmes and a change management agency in public health. His preferred option was the latter.
37. Following this meeting Professor Parish wrote to Professor N referring to difficulties in the lines of communication between the Agency and the Department, delays in receiving critical information from the Department and pressures to produce financial information earlier than expected. 

38. At the Board meeting on 23 May Professor Parish reported that there was a deficit of between £1 and £2 million between the Agency’s funding requirements as set out in the Business Plan and the likely 2001/02 budget. No inflation had been included in the Department’s budget and it did not recognise certain inherited and other financial obligations outside of Agency’s core funding.  He said the Department had asked for information at short notice and other difficulties with the Department were also mentioned by other executives. The Board was concerned about the implications of the budget and agreed it needed to be made clear to the Department and Ministers that the Agency could no longer deliver within the likely budget. 
39. On 17 June Professor Parish submitted a draft to colleagues of the future shape and structure of the organisation. He explained that the driving forces behind the review were the need to reduce fixed costs in the light of the current year’s financial settlement and the early indicators for the following year and to iron out anomalies in the structure now that they had a clear agreement with the Department about their role and functions.

40. The same month there was an exchange of emails between the Chairman and the Agency’s Executive Director of Health Improvement in which the Executive Director questioned the Chairman’s method of communicating with directors about key meetings which she attended which prevented the directors from being able to brief her properly.  

41. The minutes of the meeting of the Board on 17 July records that the Chairman said that despite the current limitations on funding the Board needed to lead the debate on the changes required of the Agency to make it “fit for purpose” and demonstrate its added value. Professor Parish is recorded as saying that at a recent meeting the Department had said that the Agency had delivered everything expected of it in its first year. However, he said the Agency was handicapped by having to compete with the Department for funds from the same budget. This was a situation which was not shared by other agencies. The Board was concerned at the effect on staff morale of restructuring and the budget settlement and that the Agency should contain its disappointment. The Chairman introduced a paper for evaluating the performance of the Agency which she regarded as an important part of the Board’s role. The Board endorsed the paper and commented that there was still a way to go in creating a corporate culture in the Agency. 
42. On 8 August Professor N wrote to Professor Parish to record the main points discussed at the annual review meeting held on 25 June. He started by saying that he was pleased with the progress and the efforts made to finalise the Business Plan since the meeting a few months earlier.  The letter reviewed the past year, the Business Plan and financial performance. Suggestions were made to improve/complete the Business Plan. He made clear that relevant financial information on activity was required so that the Department would be able to assess at the end of the current year the investment in the Agency. Professor N also saw the need for a more streamlined business planning process for the forthcoming year and he indicated that he wanted to be in a position to agree the Business Plan for 2002/3 in February the following year. He expected the Corporate Plan to be updated every year. 

43. In the event the Business Plan was completed in August, approximately four months after the start of the financial year.  

44. The Minutes of the Board Meeting on 20 September 2001 indicate that comments made by staff on restructuring and on other issues were very critical. Professor Parish acknowledged that in the first year the management had been devoted to establishing the organisation’s reputation with stakeholders but that now more time was needed to help staff engage more closely with the organisation’s aims and objectives and to improve morale. The Board commented that senior staff needed to spend time to engage with staff and to extend their understanding of the Agency’s role and purpose. The Chairman said that more work needed to be done to determine how the Agency needed to change to deliver its’ “make a difference” agenda. 
45. She reported that she had established an Evaluation Group as a means of obtaining data to respond to questioning about how the Agency was making an impact on public health. She was keen to foster an evaluative culture.  It was noted that the organisational culture which had been inherited was not congruent with the Agency’s aims and objectives and that it would demand the focus and commitment of the Board and the executive management team to engage the staff. Reservations were expressed about the limited resources for assessing how far its’ products and services changed behaviour and whether if they failed this was attributable to the Agency. In relation to finances, it was reported that there had been underspend against the profile of spend to date which was likely to result in back-loading of spend in the second half of the year which would require careful management. It was agreed that this situation must be avoided, that there should be better profiling of spending throughout the year to avoid this and that managers should be held accountable for complying with spending profiles.

46. In October 2001 the District Auditor reported on the Agency’s Business Planning. The report recognised that the Agency had faced certain difficulties and challenges ( one being that the Department was currently developing its role), that it had begun its business planning process and was moving towards implementing structures and processes needed to deliver its stated goals. Business planning and delays as well as a weakness in costing activities were identified as weaknesses in the organisation and the report made various recommendations and suggestions, including Board involvement in the business planning process. For instance it suggested that management of resources needed to improve if the Agency was to develop more accurate project costs and improve management of fixed costs. Also that it needed to move towards a stronger business planning culture. Strong leadership and direction setting was required. However, it reported that despite a difficult start the Agency had established itself successfully as a public health agency.
47. The Ministerial Review on 16 October was extremely positive with no significant criticisms of the organisation. The Agency was congratulated on its’ hard work and on the quality of its outputs.
48.  In October 2001 there was a disagreement between the Chairman and Professor Parish as to the organisation’s involvement in some emergency bio–terrorism planning. She emailed him expressing her concerns for a number of reasons. Professor Parish defended his actions but the Chairman thought this activity was a departure from the Business Plan and could only result in limited involvement in view of limited resources. She did not want him to be distracted from other critical priorities. Her file note says that she told Professor Parish that this was:

           “yet another example of him failing to give leadership to the Agency. His prolonged absences on what I determined to be non-Agency priorities were creating problems..” 
49. This was followed by a memo from the Chairman to Professor Parish on 31 October passing on comments she had received from a non Executive Director and from others that in many areas there was a lack of corporateness and detachment about the organisation, with people pursuing their own agendas.
50. Various matters were discussed at an informal Board Away Day on 30 October. The Board commented on a discussion paper presented by Professor Parish on strategic priorities. The Board proposed a summary of actions for the executive. While supporting the aspiration for a wide ranging role for the Agency it noted that this needed to be congruent with its’ key aims and priorities and that the Agency needed to focus on some clear priorities and tangible outputs and not spread itself too thinly. There was discussion about the request for help from the Department in formulating a training plan for NHS response to emergency situations and the Board concluded that if this sort of work was taken on in future then the Department would need to be told what programmed work would have to be sacrificed.   
51. The Chairman commented in the Annual Report for the Agency for 2001 that she was proud of the Agency’s achievements in the first year which were a testament to the dedication and hard work of the staff, the support and guidance given by her colleagues on the Board and the close working relationship which had been established with key stakeholders, including the Department of Health.

2002

52. The outcome of the Staff Qualitative Consultation was known in January 2002. This was critical and recorded staff dissatisfaction with, for instance, the overall direction and leadership of the organisation, criticisms of management, poor communication and lack of integrated working.   

53. At the Board meeting on 31 January there was discussion about the District Auditor’s Annual Letter for 2000/2001 and the Business Plan to be submitted in late March/early April. The Chairman felt that the Auditor’s letter was generally critical in tone. The chair of the Board’s audit committee said that the letter was couched in auditors’ terminology, that there had been no substantive criticisms at the meeting a few months previously and that the auditors had declared themselves satisfied that appropriate systems and processes were in place to address financial risks. They also commented that considerable progress had been made, given the situation which the Agency had inherited. 
54. Professor Parish mentioned that the District Auditor was aware of the presentational issues in the letter and that the audit was more positive about the Agency’s performance than appeared from the letter. The Board identified a need for a high level “Board Business Plan” showing where the business was going and providing a means for the Board to ensure that progress against key deliverables was being monitored and maintained. With regard to the Business Plan, it was reported that work on this had started earlier than in the previous year and it was intended to submit the final draft to the Department in late March early April. In the interim the Department was being consulted with a view to finalising project plans for the next year. The Board was to sign off the final Business Plan and should have the opportunity to contribute to an earlier draft.
55. The same day the Remuneration Committee decided that Professor Parish should receive a salary increase for 2001/2002 made up of a notional increase in 2000/2001as he had foregone his salary increase in 2000/2001. The increase was not put into effect until a few months later when the increase that he would have received the previous year was established. Increases were also approved by the Committee for the other Executive Directors.  
56. On 19 February, following a meeting to discuss the staff survey results, the Chairman sent Professor Parish a note of the matters they had discussed. This acknowledged the very positive relationship which was forming between the organisation and the Chief Medical Officer and emphasised the importance for Professor Parish to meet regularly with Professor N as the departmental sponsor, despite his frustrations at being unable to secure meetings with him (which she agreed to raise directly with Professor N). However, she advised him not to share these frustrations as they undermined confidence in him and the organisation.  Other issues stressed were the need for Professor Parish to “shape key tactical/ strategic pieces of business development”, to reschedule his “diary to achieve a better balance between internal and external commitments by assessing the priority of some of (his) commitments.” In relation to the Board, it was noted that some non Executive Directors were frustrated. This related to the need for some strategic guidance and accountability mechanisms to enable the Board to fulfil its role in holding the organisation to account. Professor Parish was to come forward with ways to ensure that they were better linked to the business. She confirmed that she had the same pattern of meetings with Professor N as she had had with his predecessor. 

57. In an email to Professor Parish dated 12 March the Chairman referred to his appraisal interview which was to take place a few days later and to the objectives for the following year which he had initially drafted. She felt they needed to be expanded to cover his specific personal objectives and to address the issues raised by the Staff Survey, the Business Plan and relationships with the Department. I have not seen a formal note of the outcome of this Appraisal but the Chairman’s handwritten notes indicate her assessment that certain objectives were achieved, others were partly achieved and some identified, for example, as “no substantive improvement”, ”problematic area” “ongoing budget issues”, ”lack of corporateness and internal leadership issues”,”submission problems”. 

58. The minutes of the Board meeting on 14 March 2002 record that the Chairman said that the process for developing the Business Plan was smoother and better thought out than in the previous year.  However, it was apparent that there were increasing expectations from the Department for the organisation to adjust its focus in 2002/2003 to provide additional support for the evidence into practice process and in particular support for Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) during their formative period. Professor Parish said that these were new expectations on the part of senior Department officials. He had intended that the savings flowing from the office move and the redundancy programme would fund a development resource but that these had been eroded by other finance pressures. The Board expressed the need for the early definition of the Agency’s stance in relation to PCTs and the development of its regional structures and it was a critical action point for the executive directors to reflect on this and to deliver concrete proposals to the Board by the end of March. It was noted that action was being taken to avoid underspend in the current year and that the impact evaluation study indicated that awareness of the Agency was good at national level but less so at regional level. The Agency’s products were well regarded but were not always timely.
59. On 20 March the Chairman had a meeting with Professor N who queried the delay on the final Business Plan as he wanted to present it at the Ministerial Accountability Review in May. He also made some critical comments as to what should and should not be in the Plan and acknowledged some mishandling by the Department of certain issues.
60. On 16 April Professor N wrote to Professor Parish with his quick superficial comments on the draft document which had been submitted to him regarding PCT public health development. His first reaction was that the proposal was very promising and represented the kind of work that he believed the Agency needed to become engaged in. He made certain comments and suggestions and urged certain action. He also made clear that the Department had no additional resources to offer and that resources for 2002/3 would be very tight.

61.  At a meeting between the Chairman and Professor N on 23 April 2002 Professor N made clear that the Department was under enormous pressure in terms of delivery and that the Agency needed to be able to demonstrate real impact like everyone else which meant greater clarity of outcomes rather than outputs as a result of the Agency’s involvement. This involved developing some more rigorous quantifiable outcome measures. He also said there was a proposal to look at the focus of the Agency and whether it best added value with the potential for rebranding and relaunching the Agency later in the year. 
62.  On 8 May the Chairman wrote to Professor N hoping that the Accountability Review Meeting the next day would go well. She said that she had just seen the Impact document. She was very dissatisfied with it and said that it had not been through the Board. Her view was that it would need considerable revision before the Ministerial Review.
63. She emailed Professor Parish the same day to say that she had had a formal telephone call from Professor N in his role as the Agency’s sponsor. He felt that because of concerns about the documentation they had submitted for the Accountability Review Meeting it would be inadvisable to go ahead with the meeting. His principal concern was that the Department had no document which summarised the organisation’s performance and achievements against the Business Plan 2001/2. Such a document ought to set out what the Agency was asked to do and what had been produced, demonstrating where they had under or over achieved with a commentary. It ought also, as a formal requirement for the record, to cover things not covered in the Business Plan. While welcoming the Agency’s efforts to produce further information about the impact of the work it did, the Impact document which had been produced was neither a proper account of outputs nor an impact document. In the circumstances she agreed that it would be better to reschedule the meeting to a date before the Ministerial Accountability Meeting on 23 May.

64. Professor Parish was absent from work between 10 and 27 May due to illness. The Accountability Review meeting with the Department went ahead on 15 May and the acting Chief Executive in Professor Parish’s absence emailed staff to say that the meeting had been very positive and that the Agency had been praised for delivering on its objectives, for the quality of its work, for putting the Agency on a sound financial footing given the inherited difficulties and for becoming a recognised authority in the public health world. However, the Department wanted more efforts made in certain areas.  The email made reference to the redrafting work that had been necessary and to the need to ensure that in future the Agency had a clear set of quality standards for the publication and a clear agreement with the Department about content and presentation. 

65. On 21 May Professor N wrote to the acting Chief Executive to record the main points discussed at the Accountability Review meeting with the Department. He commented that he was pleased that the Agency had succeeded in establishing internal processes on financial planning and management and that there had been progressive improvements in communications and working relationships between the Department and the  Agency. This was however an area where continued work was needed through more structured communications.  He summarised the key issues for the Agency which were: to demonstrate a sharper focus on public health outcomes; to develop a work programme for delivering national targets; to make a greater impact on public health practitioners’ and; to develop more structured communications with the Department.
66. Following Professor Parish’s return to work he had a meeting with the Chairman on 28 May. Her file note of the meeting says that the purpose of the meeting was to discuss a number of concerns that existed regarding his leadership which had been raised with her by Board members and Department officials. The purpose in raising these matters was to make him aware of the problems and to discuss whether he felt he had the right skill set and attitude to lead the Agency into its next phase of development.  She said that he had told her some months previously that he had also been giving thought to his career options and had been discussing job opportunities with recruitment consultants. 
67. The main issues of concern were: his inability to focus on key priorities, to provide organisational group direction and to lead and shape the corporate management group; failure to build and sustain close working relationships with Department officials and in particular Professor N. She gave examples such as: the commonly held view among Department officials that the executive leadership had been unable to envision and explain the added value of the organisation; the fiasco over the submission of paper work for the Departmental Accountability Meeting, feedback from the Staff Survey, his own reports that other directors ignored his views and instructions at executive management meetings; his poor relationship with Professor N as perceived by Department officials, Board members and external stakeholders and his own acknowledgement that because of his poor relationship he would struggle to move the Agency forward in collaboration with the Department. She notes that Professor Parish was taken aback by some of the issues despite “previous discussions over the Staff Survey etc” and the problems with the Department he had raised with her and others on numerous occasions. According to the note they agreed to think through the options and then to discuss the matter further.  
68. Professor Parish’s note of their conversation records that she complemented him on his capacity for hard work and all the effort that had gone into establishing the Agency but said that although he had done a very good job of setting up the Agency it was time for him to do something else/move on. He records that she gave him a number of reasons for her suggestion. They included: that he had a difficult relationship with the Department; that he had lost his grip on the organisation; that he had prepared a poor document for the Annual Review. He acknowledged problems with the Department but said they were not of his making and anyway these had improved in recent months. He pointed out that the Chairman had even had to intercede with the Chief Medical Officer to ensure that the Departmental sponsor (who had applied for Professor Parish’s job and been unsuccessful) responded to his requests for a meeting (which he had failed to respond to positively or usually at all for over a year). Otherwise, his response was limited but he made clear that he was not prepared for his career to suffer particularly as he felt that the rationale the Chairman had put forward could not be justified or substantiated. 

69. According to later comments made by Professor Parish on these claims, he thought the staff survey overall was really quite positive for an organisation going through massive change and there had been some complimentary comments about him. He accepted that the document for the Annual Review was poor but said this work had been delegated within the organisation with the Chairman’s knowledge and that he had been working on another paper which she had asked him to deal with personally which itself had been delayed because she had asked him, at short notice, to work on a detailed briefing to the Minister.  He also criticised the Chairman for focussing on internal issues at the expense if external commitments frequently of importance, for over involvement in the work of the executive directors which lead to confusion as to who was meant to be the chief executive.  
70. Notes were prepared by the Chairman of her telephone conversations with the seven non-Executive Directors on 6 June, in which she outlined the current problems as she saw them and sought their advice and agreement on the way forward. She records that all agreed that Professor Parish’s contract should be terminated and stressed the importance of dealing with this carefully, quickly and in a dignified manner. Views expressed as to why termination was necessary were: the fact that the Department had very little confidence in Professor Parish; the general concern of the Board over his performance; the feeling that he was not the right leader, did not have the right skills and that “it was not working”; one director commented that she felt very strongly from her discussions with staff that he was getting no-where and that the Agency could be accused of wasting public money; the organisation was in constant change, the goal posts were continually moving and the only clarity and focus was coming from the Board; there was very little vision; the problems highlighted by the staff survey; the critical Ministerial Review letter; the paper presented by him to the Board on Restructuring made no sense; lack of written understanding about the role of the Agency, that the regional links were unclear and that it was also unclear what the Agency was to do with the public health workforce; that he would not accept that he had failed but that experience told them differently and that the Agency would not achieve its tasks under his leadership. 

71. A further meeting between the Chairman and Professor Parish took place of 19 June. The Chairman’s note records that she conducted the discussion with the advice of a solicitor. She said that a decision had been taken that he and the Agency needed to part and that the Board was looking for a fair and amicable split. She said she had consulted a majority of the Board and had their backing to agree a way forward but had not yet spoken to Executive Board members because of the sensitivities. While she emphasised that there was a general recognition that he had done a good job establishing the Agency in its first year, there had been a number of problems deriving directly from his leadership which was making the position untenable. 
72. In his note of the conversation with the Chairman, Professor Parish says that she told him he had done an excellent job in establishing the Agency but that the time had come to move on and that a new set of skills was required for the next stage. He was surprised that the non Executive Directors had been contacted as she had asked him not to speak to anyone else at their last meeting and he had assumed this was mutual. She had inferred that the future of the Agency would be reviewed and one possibility was that it would be incorporated into the Department.    

73. The same day as their meeting the Chairman emailed all non Executive Directors confirming that she had made clear to Professor Parish that while the Board was very appreciative of his work in establishing the Agency, there was a question mark over whether he possessed the particular skills and attributes which were essential for the next very critical phase of the organisation’s development and which would enhance the Agency’s credibility in the eyes of the Minister and civil servants. 
74. On 20 June the Chairman wrote to Professor N to say that she had been mandated by the Board to enter into arrangements to bring Professor Parish’s contract to an early end. As Professor N already knew and understood the background to the decision she did not repeat it. She made clear that Professor Parish was not being made redundant and that they wished to appoint a new Chief Executive. In accordance with advice from the Treasury for severance terms, the purpose of her letter was to obtain the Department’s and the Treasury’s consent to the package to be offered to Professor Parish before proceeding to a formal offer. She said that the Agency would not be seeking additional funding from the Department for the package which will be offset over the year against other vacancies within the organisation.
75. The Treasury advice was contained in a letter dated 8 February 2002 concerned the arrangements for severance terms and provided points to be taken into account. The advice was that public funds were not to be used wastefully or to underwrite inequitable or overgenerous conditions of service. Arrangements were subject to the sponsoring department’s approval and, in theory, Treasury consent, although in practice this was delegated to departments within defined limits. It added that exceptionally, circumstances might arise where it was highly desirable that an individual should leave but the reasons are not sufficient to justify the individual’s dismissal and it was judged acceptable to offer some financial consideration to secure the voluntary resignation of the individual.  However, such proposals were novel and contentious and always required Treasury consent. 
76. In an email of 24 June the Chairman related a discussion she had had with Professor N to the Board. They had discussed the negotiations which she was conducting with Professor Parish and he had given his support in principle. 
77. According to a note prepared by Professor Parish of a conversation he had on 25 June with one of the non Executive Directors (DC) she said that the Chairman had been told by senior officials at the Department that it was time for a change of leadership. She told him that she thought he had done an excellent job and understood why he felt bruised and let down. In her statement for the Employment Tribunal hearing DC denied that this was a correct account of their conversation.
78. A further meeting was held between the Chairman and Professor Parish on 25 June and according to his note it was agreed that she would inform the Executive Directors. Her preferred line was that he had done “an excellent job but now would be moving on”.

79. The Chairman‘s notes for a briefing meeting of the Executive Directors on 27 June, record that she and Professor Parish were in discussion about the early termination of his contract and included references to: lack of high level leadership and strategic vision for the Agency; “grip-operations deliver”; poor and deteriorating relations with the Department; widespread lack of credibility in the Department (not just with Professor N) and amongst Board members. She acknowledged his achievement and noted “Right skills set then”.  
80. From around this time there were without prejudice negotiations between the parties’ solicitors as to the terms on which Professor Parish’s contract would be terminated early. Before the extraordinary meeting referred to below his solicitors raised the possibility of an agreement as to his early retirement as defined in sections 45 to 46 of the Whitley Council General Conditions of Service for the Health Service. These set out the arrangements for payment of superannuation and compensation benefits on premature retirement. 
81. On 27 June the District Auditor’s office sent an email to the Agency having considered the termination arrangements which had been proposed and the issues which the Agency would need to consider. The letter outlined the steps needed to show that the Agency had acted reasonably (e.g. that the Board receive a report on the matter which clearly set out the grounds for termination of employment, the range of benefits and likely costs). It advised that the Agency had a duty to consider alternative courses of action such as retraining or redeployment and to ensure that certain accounting requirements were met. 
82. The draft Annual Audit Letter for the Agency produced in July 2002 was positive and stated that good progress had been made to ensure that the right skills infrastructure systems and procedures were in place to ensure that the corporate objectives were met. In particular it said that the executive board was working closely to ensure effective corporate governance, risk management frameworks were established, business planning processes had been developed ensuring greater strategic focus, financial and cash management arrangements had been enhanced and a review of the corporate resources directorate had been effectively used to set a clear direction for organisational development.

83. On 2 July the Chairman wrote to the District Auditor’s office with a copy of a report which she was proposing to submit to the Board. She reported that the Agency had heard from Professor Parish’s solicitors who believed that he was entitled to access to his pension under Whitley Council rules. While this was being checked she asked for advice on the matter.  
84. The Chairman’s report for an extraordinary meeting of the Board on 5 July 2002 regarding the “Termination of the Chief Executive’s Contract” (the First Report) set out the background, discussed options and made recommendations. She said that during the past year she had become increasingly concerned about the leadership and management of the Agency. In particular her concerns were that Professor Parish found it difficult to providing strategic focus to take the organisation to the next stage of development, to provide managerial grip on important issues and to provide effective leadership of the executive management team. Relations between him and the Department had been poor and in overall terms Professor Parish was viewed by Department officials as being unable to deliver a distinctive added value role in Health Development. She said she had discussed these issues regularly with Professor Parish and gave dates. She also mentioned that Professor Parish felt that her view of how he was seen by the Department was mistaken but that she had received confirmation of her views. She referred to her discussion with him on 28 May when she said she again made him aware of the extent of her concerns “by this time also being voiced by the Board members…..” 

85. The Chairman acknowledged Professor Parish’s contribution to the work of the Agency and its early establishment but said that:

“I do feel that our recent discussions and experiences have exposed a significant mismatch between the skills which he brings to the job and the skills which the organisation needs to take forward at this stage of its development. The working relationship between our CE and our key sponsors is particularly crucial to the Agency’s success. Moreover Prof Parish does not acknowledge any shortcomings on his part thus far, so the prospects for changing this situation are not good. I believe these views are shared by the Board and by the DoH. Although all of us have found the decision to terminate Prof Parish’s contract very difficult, there is a consensus that it is necessary to secure the future success of the organisation.” 

86. In addressing options for termination, she said that the Board needed to be aware of the pension implications. The Pensions Agency had advised that there were three possible routes by which Professor Parish could access his pension: by retiring early on an actuarial reduced pension which did not require the employer’s consent; by retiring early with the Agency’s consent and agreement to make up the difference so that there would be no actuarial reduction or: with the Agency’s consent, by retiring under Regulation E3 (2) (b) in the interests of the efficiency of the service. This would result in a pension of £47,000 per annum, a lump sum of £150,000 and would cost the Agency £542,000 payable in one capitalised sum or spread over five years.

87. She referred to documents annexed to the First Report including the Treasury letter of 8 February 2002, pensions’ guidelines and advice from the District Auditor and NHS Pensions Agency. As Professor Parish was not being made redundant any payment of pension with full benefits would need to be on the basis of the efficiency of the service. She pointed out that in coming to a view about pension, in view of the financial impact, the Board needed to consider the likelihood of Professor Parish gaining equivalent employment elsewhere, the likely view of the auditors given the firm line taken on severance arrangements and the steps taken by her to explore secondment and other opportunities for him. She did not believe that reskilling or retraining was appropriate. Finally, she said that the Agency would find difficulty in meeting the costs of the pension at a time when it was putting in place a recovery to offset a potential deficit in its current budget of £500,000.

88. The minutes of the meeting record that the First Report was circulated and read and that the decision to terminate Professor Parish’s employment was ratified and terms of settlement to be offered agreed. A question was asked as to what the requirements would be for any new Chief Executive. The minutes record that the Chairman was clear regarding the strategic focus, managerial grip and effective leadership required in the next stage of the development of the Agency. 
89. Professor Parish went on sick leave in June and did not return to work at the Agency. The reasons given for his absence were, variously, stress, depression, anxiety symptoms. On 4 November the Occupational Health Service officer confirmed that in her opinion he was not yet well enough to return to work but that she thought he would be in about a months time. She thought the episode of ill health was a reaction to the circumstances of his work and that the outlook for a full recovery was very good.   

90. The Chairman wrote, on 9 July, to Professor N about the need to appoint an interim accounting officer saying that while the nature and exact date of the timing of Professor Parish’s departure was still to be determined, it was clear that he would not be coming back.
91. There was a telephone conversation on 11 July between the Director of Corporate Resources at the Agency and the District Auditor’s office during which the person from the District Auditor’s office said that they could not “advise” but were concerned about the process and whether the Board had been properly advised about the options and risks. They considered, based on the guidance and regulations, that Professor Parish’s contract was being terminated in the interests of efficiency and that he would therefore be entitled to his pension with enhancements. The response from the Executive Director was that the termination was not redundancy or in the interests of efficiency but dismissal. In that case the Agency was advised that the basis of the report to the Board should be different if the grounds were to be dismissal as the Agency would be open to an unfair dismissal case and if Professor Parish succeeded with an unfair dismissal case it would be implied that his contract had actually been terminated “in the interests of the efficiency of the service”. 
92. An internal email to the Chairman the same day confirmed the advice from the Audit Commission’s Solicitor to the District Auditor as follows:
“If the body tried to terminate employment on the grounds advanced and the Secretary of State did not issue the certificate required under the Regulation E3 or the HDA did not consent to it being issued, then Prof Parish could take a course of action against the Secretary of State or the HDA by way of judicial review of the decision. The judicial review would be on the grounds that the certificate is a procedural requirement and the Secretary of State therefore has a duty to issue it and the Agency has a duty to ensure that conditions are satisfied. The advice is that there would be a high probability of success on Prof Parish’s part” 

93. At a Board meeting on 18 July, there was discussion about the options if a settlement could not be reached, including the option of requiring Professor Parish to return to work and for his performance to be closely monitored with a view to following the proper disciplinary procedures if he failed to perform adequately. This option was discounted as a practical alternative. The Board was informed of concern expressed by the District Auditor about the risk of Professor Parish gaining access to his pension as a result of judicial review. Also that the NHS Pensions Agency had confirmed that Professor Parish would be unable to access his pension without the explicit agreement of the Agency.

94. There was a further meeting of the Board on 3 October at which the legal developments and implications regarding the termination of Professor Parish’s contract were discussed. Significant sections of these minutes have been redacted.  One of the conclusions reached by the Board was that a final offer of £115,000 was to be made to Professor Parish in full and final settlement and conditional on his entering into a Compromise Agreement. 
95. During this period without prejudice negotiations were ongoing between the parties. On 2 November Professor Parish wrote to the Chief Medical Officer about the way he had been treated by the Agency and about the steps taken to discredit him. He defended his position and outlined the difficulties he had faced as Chief Executive generally and in particular in dealing with the Chairman and Professor N. He said that the Chairman had never been an easy person to deal with, that this appointment (and her prior appointment as Chair of the HEA) were her first appointments as Chairman of such organisations and that he had frequently had to urge caution and a more considered approach. He had always been supportive of her and had preferred to work behind the scenes to help her fulfil her role successfully. He also alluded to the fact that he had had to deal with major financial irregularities inherited from the HEA during her time as chairman of that organisation.   
96. Negotiations broke down and a second report (the Second Report) (referred to in the minutes as “revised Annex 5) was prepared by the Chairman on 19 November 2002 which was considered by the Board at its meeting on 21 November 2002. As a result of the outcome of that meeting Professor Parish was given notice on 22 November 2002 which expired on 25 May 2003. 
97. The Second Report set out the Chairman’s reasons as to why she believed it was time to appoint a new Chief Executive. She acknowledged that she had taken further legal advice and made certain recommendations in the light of that advice. One recommendation was that the Agency should terminate Professor Parish’s employment by giving him six months notice.  She also explained the pension position as follows:

“Under the relevant pensions regulations, the HDA has the power to notify the NHS Pensions Agency that the employment is being terminated in the interests of the efficiency of the service. Whether it does so or not is a matter for the discretion of the HDA, taking into account all the circumstances of the case. The effect would be that RP would receive an immediate unreduced pension together with the added years. The cost to the HDA would be substantial (as previously notified to the Board). The Board can take into account the likely expenditure and what benefits will result from that expenditure, whether RP is likely to find alternative employment in the near future and the quality of his performance as the HDA’s Chief Executive. My recommendation is that the Board should not exercise its discretion in favour of such notification”. 

98. She said that during the year 2001-2 a number of problems developed with the leadership of the Agency by Professor Parish as Chief Executive which culminated in a fiasco over the submission of the Agency accountability paperwork to the Department in May 2002. These concerns were summarised as: a failure to provide strategic focus and develop a credible and distinctive role for the Agency in Public Health Development in the context of the Government’s other modernizing arrangements within its budget; failure to effectively manage the Agency corporately and provide managerial grip on important issues and ineffective leadership of the Agency’s Executive Management Team. She then provided a lengthy chronology indicating that problems first set in during the autumn of 2000 when it became clear that the Department would not increase the Agency’s budget. She referred to issues and concerns raised by Board members at their appraisals and from July 2001 at various meetings.
99. Sections of the minutes of the Board meeting have been redacted. Nevertheless they confirm that a query was raised as to whether due process was being adhered to in relation to the Board’s duty of care to Professor Parish as the Board was being asked to consider a tabled paper of major relevance to the case against him when it had not had a chance to study all the annexes which were cross referred to in the paper. Responses have in part been redacted. The Chairman responded that these additional documents had been included in response to the Board’s wish for more supporting evidence and that they were intended for use if need be in court. She said she, Agency’s the solicitor, and the Executive Directors had carefully considered these papers and were satisfied that they validated the statements made in the Second Report. She also confirmed that the substantive reasons put before the Board at its meeting in July had not changed. In view of these assurances the Board was content that due process was being followed. 
100. The options discussed included the option preferred by Professor Parish which was to dismiss him and pay his full pension benefits.  The Board was told that this would cost the Agency £500,000 in one year if he retired on grounds of efficiency and that the District Auditor was concerned about process and had always taken the view that he could well be entitled to a full pension. The Chairman reported that the Agency had taken and acted on advice from the Department, through it from the Treasury, the Pensions Agency and Leading Counsel and that if the Agency lost the argument over the pension issue there would be a strong argument for additional financial help from the Department. 
101. The unanimous decision of the Board (10 voting members with the Chairman abstaining) was that there had been an irretrievable breakdown in trust between Professor Parish and the Agency, that there should be no offer involving enhancement of his pension and that his employment should be terminated on specified terms.
2003

102. A Briefing Note prepared by the Department in January 2003 for a meeting between Sir Nigel Crisp ( Chief Executive at the Department)  and the Chairman confirmed its view that Professor Parish had been successful in preventing negative media coverage following the abolition of the HEA but that subsequently he had shown himself ( from the Department’s perspective) to have: an excessive concern over the level of financial support given to the Agency by the Department; a determination, against Departmental advice to maintain and develop an international role for the Agency and; a weakness in terms of strategic leadership as evinced particularly through a persistent failure to draw up an adequate Corporate Plan. The note said that the Department had not been instrumental in seeking to change the Chief Executive. It shared some of the underpinning concerns which had led the Board to reach its decision. It had not reached the stage of arguing for a change of leadership but did not disagree with the Board’s decision which it felt it was entitled to reach. It noted that since Professor Parish had ceased in practice to manage the Agency, the result had been positive – there was a greater sense of corporate ownership and direction in the senior team and an acceleration in the development of more effective strategies for changing public health practice in line with evidence. The Department commented that it was more confident than it had been for sometime that the Agency would deliver. 
103. Prior to this meeting the Chairman wrote to Sir Nigel Crisp on 7 January 2003 with a brief outline of the position on the departure of Professor Parish. She said that the Board took a decision in May 2002 that it required a different style of leadership for the next phase of the Agency’s development. No mention was made of any other reasons for Professor Parish’s departure. She explained that negotiations had taken place but that the terms of the package offered were unacceptable to Professor Parish.  
2005

104. The Board meeting on 25 January was attended by eight Directors and was chaired by one of the non Executive Directors. The minutes of the meeting ( which have been redacted), record that it had before it a number of papers, including:

· Legal advice from the Agency’s solicitors 

· A report dated 19 January 2005 setting out the financial implications for the Agency;

· An account of the Chairman dated 19 November 2002 ( Annex 5) without attachments;

· A file of witness statements prepared on behalf of the Agency for the purposes of the Employment Tribunal proceedings;

· A file of documents which evidenced the events immediately leading up to the dismissal;

· A table setting out the history of the criticisms raised with Professor Parish;

· Correspondence between the Agency’s solicitors and Professor Parish’s solicitors between November 2004 and January 2005;

· A summary prepared by the Agency’s solicitors of Professor Parish’s reasons why the termination of his employment was in the interests of efficiency;  

105. According to the minutes, the Board was reminded of the questions it needed to consider in respect of Professor Parish’s formal application for an enhanced pension. The questions were: was Professor Parish’s dismissed for the reasons put forward in Annex 5 (relating to his performance) or the reasons contended for by Professor Parish (the requirements of the Department). If the answer to the above question was that he was dismissed for reasons relating to his performance, were the defects in his performance so serious that the Agency would not be entitled to treat his dismissal as a termination in the interests of efficiency? 

106. During the course of the discussion one of the Board members asked whether the Department had had any hand in the dismissal and why Professor Parish’s performance had not improved. The Chairman said that she was absolutely clear that the Board’s decision had not been influenced by the Department. She thought that Professor Parish had not learnt from his mistakes and had presented a catalogue of excuses for his failure to improve his performance. She is recorded as saying: “The nature of the job had not changed sufficiently during (Professor Parish’s) tenure of the post for the relevance of his skills and competencies to be called into question”. Another member referred to the Chairman’s witness statement and asked her to confirm that at no time had the Department suggested that it would be better if Professor Parish left the Agency. She confirmed this. 

107. The Board again considered the reasons for Professor Parish’s dismissal and unanimously agreed that the reason was concerned with his performance which had caused the Board to lose confidence in him. Two of the Executive Directors spoke about their concerns. One said that members of the executive management team had attempted to support Professor Parish but that there was a continuing catalogue of ineffective leadership, management and representation culminating in an adversarial relationship with members of the team. Another said that he had reached his view of Professor Parish’s poor performance gradually but that this had been confirmed by the second failure to submit an adequate accountability review report. The Board also agreed to confirm certain paragraphs in the Chairman’s witness statement. It then considered the spectrum of poor performance into which Professor Parish fell. The fundamental issue was no less than the leadership of the Agency. It was recorded that no member was suggesting that Professor Parish’s performance was anything other than extremely poor. The issues of poor performance were so serious that they had led to a loss of confidence in Professor Parish on the part of the Board and that there was no question of his dismissal being in the interests of the efficiency of the service. 

108. The Board then went on to consider the exercise of its discretion and decided unanimously that even if the discretion with regard to the payment of an enhanced pension could be exercised it was not prepared to do so in the circumstances of this case. 
109. It also addressed the hypothetical question ( the “Hypothetical Question”) of what it would have done if Professor Parish’s performance “had been in the less serious part of the spectrum”, i.e. if his performance had not been so poor as to render his dismissal incapable of being regarded as having been in the interests of the efficiency of the service  The Board was told of the cost of enhancing Professor Parish’s pension – a sum in the region of £674,000.00 – and the sum paid to him on the settlement of his claim for unfair dismissal.   The Board decided that it would not have exercised its discretion to agree that he should be regarded as having been dismissed in the interests of the efficiency of the service.
Summary of Professor Parish’s position  
110. He does not agree that the issue for me is only to identify the reasons for his dismissal and not to decide whether those reasons were justified by the facts. Keith J made clear that one of the factual issues which arises and which I must investigate is what the true reason for his dismissal was. In his view this means whether there was a factual justification for dismissal on grounds of poor performance.  
111. My starting point therefore should be the question as to what the true reasons for the dismissal were. Were they as identified and enunciated by the Chairman in the First Report and quoted in the extract from the First Report referred to in paragraph 85 above (which he submits neatly fit the concept of a dismissal “in the interests of the efficiency of the service” and which was the true reason for his dismissal) or the reasons set out in the Board’s decision of 21 November 2002 which, paraphrasing, were an irretrievable breakdown in trust and confidence.
112. The substance of his case is that on a proper assessment of the evidence there was no factual basis for the termination of his employment on grounds of poor performance.  Difficulties in his relationship with the Department, which were confined to difficulties with Professor N, had nothing to do with “performance “in the accepted sense of the word. The same goes for his relationship with the Chairman.  This was not a matter of performance on his side any more than on hers.  He had excellent relations with the Board which was poisoned by her. 
113. A decision making body which proceeds to a decision based on untrue reasons (even if it does so in good faith) is guilty of maladministration- at least when those untrue reasons have been generated by its own servants. 
114. He does not claim that the Board acted fraudulently or in bad faith or that it had its own “hidden agenda” but rather that the Chairman did so by “spinning” the rational for his dismissal and by placing evidence before the Board which she had concocted.  The Board, relying on what she told it went along with it.  Therefore I should not focus on the conduct of the Board but on the conduct of the Chairman. 
115. In his witness statement prepared for the Employment Tribunal hearing he contested, in detail, all allegations made against him and the criticisms of his competence. The true reasons for the termination were a central issue before the Employment Tribunal. The reasons given by the Agency to the Employment Tribunal were coloured by the principal (if not exclusive) aim of avoiding triggering his entitlement to the enhanced pension entitlement he was legitimately demanding. 
116. His claim to the Employment Tribunal was settled very shortly before the hearing for the full amount available of £60,000 plus legal costs of £55,000. Costs in the Employment Tribunal are only very rarely awarded. If the Agency’s claim, that he would still have been dismissed even if it had followed a fair procedure, had been successful, compensation might have been substantially reduced. Despite this the Agency settled on terms indicating that it did not have confidence that the Employment Tribunal would decide the case in its favour.

117. In reviewing the true factual basis for the termination of his employment I should have primary regard to the contemporary documented evidence of the events of May-July 2002. These are consistent with only one conclusion, namely that the Agency (or more specifically the Chairman) had decided that he was no longer suitable to lead the Agency in the next phase of its development. 

118. It was clear that a decision had been made in May 2002 that he should leave the Agency. The nub of the meeting on 28 May 2002 was that the Chairman wanted him to move on in order to make way for someone who would be more acceptable to the Department. The Chairman told him that “the time had come to move on”, that he had done a good job of setting up the Agency “but now it was time to do something else”. 
119. The decision to terminate his employment was made and communicated to him at a meeting on 19 June 2002 at which point the principal reason was not performance but a desire for a change of direction to take the Agency into the next phase of its development and for improved relations with the Department. These were the true reasons for dismissing him.

120. This is confirmed by the fact that: they are given by far the greatest prominence in the contemporaneous documentation which speak for themselves; the relationship with the Department was of crucial importance to the Agency and its future; the Chairman told him on 28 May 2002 that issues had been raised with her by Department officials; she mandated another member of the Board to obtain re-assurance/corroboration of her view that the Department did not have confidence in him and; DC told him that a diktat from the Department lay behind his dismissal. 
121. The Agency’s case of alleged poor performance arose only once it appreciated that he was entitled to an enhanced early retirement pension under the Whitley Council Rules as raised by his solicitors on 27 June 2002 and once it received its counsel’s advice that poor performance might be a get out from its obligation to enhance his pension.

122. The advice from the District Auditor on 11 July marks the beginning of the process in which the Agency (specifically the Chairman) set about “spinning” the rationale for the proposed dismissal to circumvent the difficulties identified by the District Auditor.  It was only after considerable pressure, and very shortly before the full Employment Tribunal hearing that the Auditor’s advice was disclosed. 

123. I am also asked to draw inferences to support this suggestion from the refusal of the Agency to provide him with reasons for his dismissal in blatant disregard of his statutory rights.  This conduct, especially when coupled with advice from the District Auditor of 27 June 2002 that the reasons given in the draft letter of dismissal were inadequate, indicate that the reasons subsequently given were not the true reasons. 

124.  The real reasons for his dismissal remained the same throughout. The reasons for the decision on 5 July were the same as the reasons for the Board’s decision of 21 November 2002.  Therefore the primary focus should be the reasons giving rise to the decision which was “ratified “by the Board on 5 July 2002.   These reasons are said by NICE to have remained unchanged and free from any suggestion of taint or influence by advice that he would be entitled to a pension under Regulation E3. 

125. The implementation of the decision to dismiss him could have come at any time after 19 June 2002 because that was when the Chairman made clear that a decision had been taken that he and the Agency needed to part. The delay was to allow NICE to “re-badge” its’ reasons which is what it was as good as told to do by the District Auditor on 11 July 2002. He had not worked since 8 July so nothing had changed between June/July and November except for the advice of the District Auditor regarding his pension entitlement. If, as NICE has said, no “additional or different reasons” had arisen and the reasons as originally expressed remained, it is impossible to accept that the Board was no longer actuated by its original reasons. 

126.  The key documents/events were: the letter from the Chairman to Sir Nigel Crisp of 7 January 2003; his meeting with the Chairman on 28 May 2002 (of the eight examples for concern which she gives, five related to his relationship with the Department. No criticism was made of his performance or competence as such); the Chairman’s notes of her phone calls to non-Executive Directors on 6 June 2002; the Chairman’s notes made to brief Executive Directors members on 27 June 2002 and; her First Report which was almost entirely devoted to the theme of relations between him and the Department.
127. The Second Report’s stated purpose was to refute the allegation that the Department was behind the dismissal. He had no opportunity to comment on this Report. It relegates difficulties with the Department to the second rank and mounts a detailed and lengthy attack on his performance as Chief Executive and raises many matters that up till then had not been voiced at all. 

128.  Performance and discipline systems devised for Chief Executives in the NHS were not invoked or suggested. On the contrary he was awarded a 6.95 % pay rise in February 2002 in respect of work done over the past two years (double the rate he requested) which was performance related and was discretionary.    

129.  Concerns over his performance had never been previously raised and that there was no legitimate basis for criticising his performance. It was inherently unlikely, given his career prior to his tenure with the Agency and his acknowledged performance during the first 18 months that his performance could have declined in 2001 and early 2002 to the level of “major incompetence” or “serious incompetence” or any incompetence at all. 
130. The existence of performance related reasons would not exclude a dismissal for the principal reason of efficiency. If he was dismissed in the interests of the efficiency of the service, then he could not be denied the enhanced benefits on the ground that that would cost the organisation a lot of money. If it were so then an employing organisation could always plead a damaging effect on finances as a complete answer to a claim for those benefits. 

131. Witness statements and testimonials obtained for the Employment Tribunal are evidence of a career of exceptionally high achievement. This was acknowledged by the Agency when it recruited him.  He was also invited to apply for a very desirable and high profile job in the NHS in the autumn of 2001 but when he mentioned the approach to the Chairman she discouraged him from applying. She would not have done so had there been concerns about his performance at that stage. He has since been appointed as Chief Executive of the Royal Society of Public Health and has provided a testimonial from the Chairman demonstrating that over a four year period he has been a Chief Executive of the highest calibre. He has also received invitations to join various other prestigious organisations. 
132. The weight of evidence on the basis of the witness statements is supportive of his case and shows that any performance based reasons for his dismissal were concocted. One statement demonstrates that the Chairman’s account of the “bio terrorism issue” to be wholly distorted and his account to be accurate. He invites me, if it is necessary to make a determination between competing accounts of particular factual matters, to hold an oral hearing. 
133. In November 2006 his solicitors had a conversation with the former Director of Health Improvement (Dr S) who was one of the Executive Directors at the Agency during his tenure. She was given notice and left the Agency in 2004 and received an enhanced early retirement pension. She confirmed the financial difficulties faced by the Agency, that the Chairman was controlling and was very involved in the day to day management of the Agency to almost “micro” level on occasions and said that the Department did not have “its’ act together”. However she had no doubt that the 2002 accountability review was a black episode for him although she attributed blame to another Executive Director. She contradicted the Chairman’s claim that she did not have performance review meetings with him as they had regular one to one meetings. She accepted that his leadership had declined to the point where it was subject to valid questioning by mid 2002 although she qualified this statement in view of the difficult issues he had to deal with. Her recollection was that that a decision had been made by the Department that he had to go and that the Board was presented with a fait accompli. There had not been a considerable amount of discussion about the decision to terminate his contract and other Board members did not challenge it.  
134. In a recent supplementary statement he highlights issues that have become apparent following initial submissions and documents released by NICE under Freedom of Information and Data Protection Acts. These include challenges to the veracity of certain of statements by NICE’s witnesses and to the accuracy of the Chairman’s notes.

135. In deciding whether his enhanced pension should be awarded even if the performance issues were at the lower end of the spectrum, the Board decided that the potential cost of the enhancement (in excess of £500,000) meant that there should be no such award. This decision was wrong as cost was not a factor it was entitled to take into account. In particular it was not entitled to do so when it had agreed that he was entitled to have his full 27 years continuous employment recognised in his Agency contract specifically to preserve his full entitlement to an enhanced pension. 
136. NICE has suggested that if I find that the true reason for the termination of his employment was in the interests of the efficiency of the service, then the matter should be remitted to it to decide whether to consent to an enhanced pension. However, NICE has not identified any basis on which consent could be refused.

Summary of NICE’s position  
137. Professor Parish was dismissed because the Board genuinely believed that his poor performance required his dismissal. It exercised its discretion against awarding him an enhanced pension in a proper and lawful way and in good faith.

138. The complaint involves two different decisions - the decision of the Board on 21 November 2002 to dismiss Professor Parish and the decision of the Board on 25 January 2005 to refuse his request for an enhanced early retirement pension. 
139. It also raises two different questions: (1) what was the true reason for Professor Parish’s dismissal on 21 November 2002. Was it correct, as Professor Parish contends, that the true reason for his dismissal was not his poor performance as stated by the Agency, but that this stated reason was spurious and was given in order to deny him the right to an unenhanced early retirement pension to which he was otherwise entitled and (2) in the light of the answer to (1), was the decision of the Board on 25 January 2005 to refuse his request for an enhanced early retirement pension under the Regulation E3 either improperly reached or perverse. The decision involved the determination of a question of fact: was Professor Parish dismissed (in November 2002) “in the interests of the efficiency” of the Agency.

Question 1
140. The reason for Professor Parish’s dismissal was his competence as reflected in the minutes of the meeting on 21 November 2002 and the Second Report. Full reasons were set out in the Second Report, namely a failure in leadership and management of the Agency. Specifically a lack of: strategic focus; managerial grip and; effective leadership of the executive management team. 
141. The reasons were substantially the same as those which were the basis of the Board’s decision of 5 July 2002 to offer terms to Professor Parish, failing which notice to terminate his employment would be given. At that meeting the Board had considered the First Report which identified the same concerns about his competency to lead the Agency. As no agreement was reached between July and November, the decision was taken on 21 November 2002 to give notice terminating his employment.

142. The Board had its attention specifically drawn to the possibility of terminating on efficiency grounds and the consequences of doing so at both the meeting on 5 July and 21 November 2002 and quite deliberately and consciously chose not to do so.  There was nothing wrong with this approach as the Agency was entitled, and arguably obliged, as a public body, in the interests of its stakeholders, to take into account its financial interests and to take the stance that, if termination on efficiency grounds would give rise to substantial additional costs, it should consider whether there were grounds for termination on a basis which would not lead to this result. 
143. In the light of the District Auditor’s advice, that dismissal on efficiency grounds would lead to an entitlement to an enhanced pension (at an estimated cost to the Agency of some £500,000), the Agency quite properly (in November 2002) considered his performance and decided to dismiss Professor Parish on competence grounds. 

144. Employers who sponsor occupational pension schemes are entitled to and do take into account their own interests when considering whether and how to exercise their powers under such schemes, including in particular whether to consent to an application for an early retirement pension: (Hoover Ltd v Hetherington [2002] EWHC 1052 (Ch). 
145. Its action was not a sham or a device to prevent Professor Parish from becoming entitled to an enhanced pension. This amounts to an allegation of fraud not just by the Chairman but by the entire Board. It is untenable, in the face of the clear and compelling evidence from members of the Board regarding the reasons for his dismissal, to assert that the reasons given by Agency for his dismissal were not the Board’s true reasons but were entirely spurious.  
146. It is not within the scope of the complaint and not within my jurisdiction to determine whether the reasons stated for his dismissal were justified by the facts. A complaint that an employer dismissed an employee for reasons which it had no right to use as a ground for dismissal is a purely contractual dispute between employer and employee and does not fall within my jurisdiction.  
147. It is bizarre and inherently unlikely that the Agency’s real reasons for dismissing Professor Parish were those which it knew would give rise to the enhanced pension entitlement but that it deliberately and consciously decided to pretend to be dismissing Professor Parish for reasons which would not give rise to that enhanced pension entitlement.. 
148. It denies that the decision to terminate his employment had already been made in May 2002, making the Board’s decision on 21 November 2002 a sham. By the middle of April 2002, the Chairman had come to the conclusion that there had to be a change of leadership at the Agency, but she was not at that stage thinking in terms of terminating Professor Parish’s employment. The fiasco concerning the submission of the accountability report and the resulting discussions on 8 May 2002 was the “final straw” which confirmed her in this conclusion. But at this stage, she was exploring possible ways of transferring Professor Parish out of his role as Chief Executive of the Agency for long enough to give others the opportunity to turn things round and get it back on track, including possible secondments. 
149. From June 2002, the formal process of terminating Professor Parish’s employment began, but at this stage there had been no formal decision by the Board to dismiss Professor Parish. Discussions during June between the Chairman and the other non-Executive Directors revealed agreement that Professor Parish’s employment should be terminated and this led to formal dealings between solicitors regarding a possible termination settlement. 
150. The discussions between the Chairman and Professor Parish and the Chairman and the non-Executive Directors during May and June 2002 focussed on the question of the leadership of the Agency, Professor Parish’s relationships with key personnel at the Department and Professor Parish’s perceived inability to lead the Agency in the future. This is not inconsistent with its ultimate conclusion that he should be dismissed on grounds of competence. The ability to lead the Agency effectively is an aspect of the competence of the Chief Executive. Leadership is a key performance requirement in a leader and maintenance of a good working relationship with the Department was vital to the Agency’s survival and credibility. This was a key aspect of Professor Parish’s role, as he had been specifically told during an informal appraisal in August 2000. 
151. At the end of June 2002, the Chairman met with the Executive Board members to discuss the situation. It was recognised that there had to be a formal Board meeting to take a decision about Professor Parish’s continued employment and this occurred on 5 July 2002. 
152. The District Auditor’s advice of 27 June 2002 was that if there was to be a dismissal for reasons other than redundancy, the Agency had to demonstrate that it had acted reasonably was followed. The Chairman prepared the First Report which identified serious performance failings, namely Professor Parish’s failure of leadership and his lack of the necessary skills to take the Agency forward. 
153. Although the minutes of the Boar meeting on 5 July 2002 recorded that it “ratified” the decision to terminate his employment it was not endorsing a prior decision which was already legally effective. This was the first formal decision at board level to terminate Professor Parish’s employment. It was conditional on no agreement being reached with Professor Parish. 
154. No action was taken to terminate his employment on the basis of the 5 July 2002 decision. As agreement had been reached by November, the Board considered the matter afresh and took the decision to terminate his employment on the grounds of competence set out in the Chairman’s Second Report and specifically on grounds which would not result in an entitlement to an enhanced pension under Regulation E3, having been made aware of this possible consequence of a decision to dismiss in the interests of efficiency. It decided that Professor Parish should not return to work during his period of notice because of the irretrievable breakdown of trust between him and the Agency.
155. Even if for some reason I were to conclude that, between the decision on 5 July and the decision on 21 November, there was a substantial change in the reasons of the Board for dismissing Professor Parish, the only relevant decision is the later one, since it was this decision which was implemented. It is the reasons for the 21 November decision which matter. Those reasons were unquestionably that he was to be dismissed on competence grounds. 
156. The advice from the District Auditor of 27 June 2002 that Professor Parish would be entitled to an enhanced pension was premised on the belief that he was to be dismissed in the interests of efficiency. But at that stage no dismissal had occurred and hence the grounds for dismissal had not been established. As Professor Parish was dismissed for competence, not in the interests of efficiency, the premise on which the District Auditor’s advice was based was never met. 
157. The same point applies to the further advice received from the District Auditor on 11 July. The crucial word here is “if” the Agency terminated Professor Parish’s employment in the interests of efficiency, it would be obliged to give consent to the issue of the requisite certificate by the Secretary of State under Regulation E3, (Whether or not this construction of Regulation 3 is correct is irrelevant to Question 1.)
158. The crux of Professor Parish’s complaint is that receipt of this advice marked the start of a process by which the Chairman set about “spinning” the reason for his dismissal. He alleges that she concocted false reasons for his dismissal in order to prevent his entitlement to an enhanced pension. In fact from the start, the concerns were about his competence. Issues regarding his competence were brought into consideration before and as part of the decision to dismiss him. Questions of competence did not only arise once the Agency appreciated the possible consequences of termination on efficiency grounds. 

159. It rejects the suggestion that the reasons given for his dismissal were not true because they were not those which the Chairman initially raised and discussed with him. The fact that the reasons relied on by the Agency for deciding to dismiss him had not been the subject of previous discussion with him (if true) is irrelevant. The issue for me to decide is the basis for the decision of the Board on 21 November 2002. But in any event, the matters which had been discussed with him were issues going to his ability to lead the Agency in the future: they were competence issues. 
160. Professor Parish had no right to “demand” an enhanced early retirement pension. It is a necessary condition for such an entitlement that his employment terminated “in the interests of efficiency”. Professor Parish’s complaint is that the Agency should have dismissed him on grounds which would have entitled him to an enhanced pension, but it chose not to do so. The Agency was not obliged to dismiss him for reasons which gave rise to an enhanced pension and it was entitled to choose not to do so.
Question 2

161. Professor Parish has failed to produce any evidence to support his allegation that the decision was improperly reached and/or was perverse. 

162. If Question 1 is answered as it suggests then Question 2 has already been answered as the validity of its decision on 25 January 2005 is res judicata between Professor Parish and the Agency as Stanley Burnton J decided, on 2 June 2005, that the Agency had correctly interpreted the test for “in the interests of efficiency” and was entitled to conclude that the termination was not in the interests of efficiency.  
163. Keith J’s decision does not mean that I am constrained in all respects by the decision of Stanley Burnton J. If I decide that the true reason for the dismissal is as it claims, the case is then on all fours with the complaint which was considered by Stanley Burnton J and rejected by him. It follows that I would then be bound to hold that the decision of 25 January 2005 was lawful.

164.   It asks me to comment expressly on the Board’s negative decision of 25 January 2005 in relation to the Hypothetical Question i.e. when it was invited to consider, hypothetically, whether, if Professor Parish’s under performance had been less serious than it was, such that his dismissal could be regarded as being in the interests of the efficiency of the service, it would exercise its discretion to enhance his pension. 
165.  If Question 1 is answered as Professor Parish suggests then it accepts that Question 2 arises. The appropriate direction for me to make is to direct that the matter be remitted for its decision in the light of what I find was the true reason for his dismissal. It would be inappropriate for me to assume the role of decision maker and to substitute my own decision (Edge v Pensions Ombudsman (1998) Ch 512 and Saffil Pension Fund v Curzon (2005) EWHC 293 Ch).  
166. The Agency received advice from Leading Counsel (consistent with the District Auditor’s advice) that if Professor Parish were to be dismissed for reasons which fell into the description of “the interests of efficiency”, then he would meet the first criterion for entitlement to an enhanced pension. Leading Counsel did not advise that the circumstances of the intended dismissal did in fact fall within “the interests of efficiency”, but only that they may do. That entitlement depended crucially on the reasons for dismissal. 
Conclusions
What were the true reasons for Professor Parish’s dismissal?
167.  Professor Parish’s dismissal occurred as a result of a decision of the Board which was formally made and minuted at its’ meeting on 21 November 2002. According to the minutes, the Board’s decision was that he should not return to work as there had been an irretrievable breakdown in trust between him and the Agency. This decision was the unanimous decision of ten Board members, five non Executive Directors, four Executive Directors (including Dr S) and the Chair (for the purposes of the meeting) who was also a non Executive Director.  
168. The Board’s decision was made following a presentation made by the Chairman, the submission of the Second Report and after discussion. A representative from the Agency’s legal advisers was also present. Sections of the minutes have been redacted on the grounds of legal professional privilege implying that the Board received legal advice from him. As the Second Report contained the Chairman’s account of the reasons why she believed it was time to appoint a new Chief Executive and her account of the problems (as she saw them) that had developed with Professor Parish’s leadership of the Agency, I start by considering whether these were the “true reasons” for the Board’s decision to dismiss Professor Parish. 
169. Before doing so I need to make clear that my powers in this regard are subject to certain limits. Although my decision involves a finding of fact, this does not mean that I must reach a finding as to whether those reasons were justified in the sense that they would have been successful before the Employment Tribunal. It is also not for me  to make a qualitative assessment of the work done by Professor Parish during his time at the Agency or of his achievements. Nor is it for me  to balance the positive achievements that he claims against his failures as claimed by the Board. I do not involve myself in such matters of pure employment law. 

170. This follows the case of Engineering Training Authority v Pensions Ombudsman (1996) PLR 409 which provided that my jurisdiction in relation to employers was directed to their function under or in relation to the pension scheme in question. In that case, Carnwath J held that:
“Although the Ombudsman’s jurisdiction has been extended by the 1989 regulations to employers, it is clearly directed, in my view, to their functions under or “in relation to” the pension scheme in question. It does not give the Ombudsman jurisdiction to investigate complaints about the ordinary contractual relations between employer and employee. These are matters for the Industrial Tribunal or an action in the Court for breach of contract.”

171. Thus my role, in the first instance, in very simple terms, is rather to consider whether the reasons given were the actual reasons for the Board’s decision.
172. That said, as Professor Parish not only challenges the veracity of the reasons for his dismissal, but also questions the actions of the Board, its conduct in reaching its decision is a proper subject for my consideration. In essence Professor Parish argues that the reasons given by the Board were deliberately used by the Board in order to deny him the benefit that he considers he is entitled to, that the evidence placed before the Board was unreliable, unjustified and was concocted by the Chairman, that the Board was misled by her and relying on what she told it went along with the evidence she submitted. He does not claim that it acted in bad faith but rather that it was unaware of the true status of the evidence submitted by the Chairman who had other reasons for wanting him to go (such as pressure from the Department). 
173. Therefore he suggests that the focus of my consideration should be the actions of the Chairman and not the Board.  However, it is the Board that is the employer in relation to the Scheme and the proper respondent to Professor Parish’s complaint, not the Chairman. It made the decision giving rise to his complaint and its actions must be the focus of my attention. This in turn involves consideration of the evidence placed before it and, to that extent, the actions of the Chairman as a key member of the Board.
174. Professor Parish relies on a considerable amount of circumstantial evidence in support of his case - such as the level of the settlement reached under the Compromise Agreement, his track record of achievements before and after working at the Agency, his reputation and inconsistencies which he has identified (some only very recently) in the arguments and statements submitted by NICE for the Employment Tribunal. I only take such evidence into account where there is insufficient more directly relevant evidence. At present, therefore I draw no conclusions from the terms of the Compromise Agreement as this would be a matter of speculation. There may well have been other factors that led to the high level of compensation paid to Professor Parish such as the desire by the Agency to avoid possibly damaging publicity.  Moreover although the numerous testimonials submitted by Professor Parish bear witness to his ability and reputation, they do not actually directly assist me in deciding the issue before me.   Indeed some of the evidence of various appointments on working groups and such like could be said to support the Chair’s inherent assertion that as Chief Executive Professor Parish focussed too much on such external work and this deflected him from a core role in providing visible leadership to the Agency.
175. I also do not consider it relevant that Professor Parish was not subject to disciplinary measures. As Chief Executive of a high profile and fledgling organisation one would not necessarily expect such measures to apply when considering how to deal with the termination of his employment. Time and public confidence are critical considerations in such cases. Moreover, this option was considered by the Board at its meeting on 18 July 2002.
176. I find too that the fact that Professor Parish did not have the opportunity to counter the claims made in the Chairman’s Second Report does not, of itself, call into question the Board’s decision even though this might go to the fairness or otherwise of the dismissal process. Given the composition of the Board, it seems to me highly unlikely that it would have decided as it did (or have simply gone along with the evidence) without further enquiry if it had had any serious reservations about the evidence before it. It was charged with making a decision in the best interests of the Agency, as it saw it, subject to its’ implied duty towards Professor Parish, as his employer, to act in good faith. It was not obliged to adjudicate between two competing claims.  
177. As Accountable Officer for the Agency, Professor Parish was, in a wide sense, responsible for all of the actions of the organisation. He was also specifically responsible for a range of defined functions, as set out in his contract of employment.  His relationship with the Board, the Chairman and the Department was pivotal to the good running of the organisation so that it would not be unreasonable or surprising for the Board to be extremely concerned if there were any difficulties in any of these relationships and entirely understandable if such difficulties led to a loss of confidence in him. These relationships were fundamental to the proper performance of his duties under his contract and anything that threatened these relations whether or not completely of his making had to be a critical factor in the Board’s decision. 
178. Professor Parish has himself acknowledged on various occasions (e.g. in his statement for the Employment Tribunal proceedings, in his letter to the Chief Medical Officer in November 2002 and in comments made on the Chairman’s account of their meetings in May and June 2002) that he found the Chairman and Professor N difficult to work with. He regarded the Chairman as inexperienced in the role and in financial and accounting matters, liable to overact and to be too controlling (his evidence from Dr S confirms this). He acknowledges disagreements with Professor N. Such difficulties support the Chairman’s views. Whether or not, as Professor Parish suggests, such difficulties or disagreements were not of his making, the fact remains that they fundamentally concerned his relations with key players and therefore related to the fulfilment of his role as Chief Executive. As such they go to his performance of his duties.  
179. On his own admission Professor Parish worked very hard, putting in long hours. The Board acknowledged his achievements in terms of launching the Agency, winding up the previous organisation, liaising externally and raising the profile of the Agency. These matters are not in question but they do not necessarily preclude other deficiencies in his performance as Chief Executive of the Agency.   Specifically they do not preclude deficiencies in leadership emerging as the organisation was required to set targets and deliver against them.
180. The contemporaneous evidence indicates that from time to time during 2001the Chairman expressed reservations about certain key aspects of the way that Professor Parish was discharging his duties as she saw them.  Specifically a lack of leadership.  It is also clear that the Board was aware of and concerned about the financial and other difficulties faced by the Agency, staff issues, the issues raised by the Auditor’s Report of October 2001 and dealings with the Department. Given the background circumstances and the complex nature of the role of Chief Executive, such instances in isolation might well not have resulted in the situation which eventually arose. However, loss of confidence can result from an accumulation of concerns and be brought to a head by circumstances, as in this case by the events in May 2002.
181. Professor Parish has sought to undermine NICE’s position by claiming that the reasons for his dismissal changed and that I should concentrate on the reasons before the Board between May and June 2002 as these were the “real “reasons. In her First Report the Chairman highlighted lack of strategic focus, lack of managerial grip, lack of effective leadership, relations with the Department and a mismatch of skills to what was needed to take the Agency to the next stage. These comments were not inconsistent with the evidence. They are also not inconsistent with what she had already said to him – for instance at their meeting on 19 June 2002 - when she said that the problems derived directly from his leadership, making the position untenable. While the Second Report is stronger and more detailed the basic themes remain the same. 
182. Thus I do not agree that it was only after Professor Parish’s solicitors had referred to the Whitley Council terms and after advice was received from the District Auditor that the Agency sought to “spin” or “concoct” the reasons for Professor Parish’s dismissal. When an employer seeks the departure of an employee by agreement one would not necessarily expect  the employer to spell out in full detail all of the reasons for its decision while there is still the possibility of the parties reaching a compromise.   It does seem that at the outset the Board had in mind an amicable parting of ways. Faced with the failure to agree terms, it could not allow the matter to drag on and had to bring it to a conclusion. This led to positions being taken on both sides and inevitably to the careful preparation of the Second Report which formed the basis of the Board’s decision and its reasons for the dismissal. At that stage the Chairman and the Board knew that it was likely that there would be litigation and that its reasons might be made public and needed to be made watertight. 

183. Given the background leading up to the Board’s decision and the evidence placed before the Board, I am persuaded, on the balance of probabilities, that the reasons on the basis of which it reached its decision were the real reasons for its decision to dismiss Professor Parish, that it was satisfied that those reasons were justified by the evidence placed before it and that it was also satisfied as to the substance of the evidence. To find otherwise I would need to be persuaded that it is more likely than not that all ten members of the Board simply accepted the Chairman’s evidence without any input from them and without reflecting on it and forming their own views. There were a number of meetings between June and November 2002 at which Professor Parish’s position was discussed by the Board. In addition the Chairman had discussions with individual Board members and referred in her First and Second Reports to the concerns being voiced by Board members. The Board also took legal advice. In the circumstances I find such a conclusion  unsupported. It is also  inherently improbably particularly given the standing, qualifications and experience of the members of the Board that they would have allowed their views to be misrepresented 
184. Professor Parish appears to suggest that the Board’s decision was suspect as it only met a few times a year and did not therefore have a detailed knowledge of the day to day running of the organisation and thus relied unduly on the Chairman’s account. It is not unusual for Boards to operate by relying heavily on the Chairman and the issue frequently comes down to the question of confidence where there is a disagreement between a chairman of an organisation and the chief executive. In this case the Board clearly had confidence in the Chairman and the evidence provided by her with the result that it reached a finding of no confidence in Professor Parish.

185. Even if the account of the events given by the Chairman may in some cases have been open to question or have been open to a different interpretation, this does not necessarily mean that her account was fundamentally untrue. Inevitably there is an element of subjectivity involved in such matters. Nor does it follow that there was pressure from the Department for him to go because of their strained relations. This implies that the decision was purely “political” and not performance related and ignores the crucial point which is that there was certainly some evidence of failure in Professor Parish’s general performance. The Chief Executive leads the day to day operation and if the operation is viewed as failing or as not delivering the Chief Executive may have to take responsibility. So where there is sufficient evidence of lack of focus, leadership and control of a body as appears here the Board was entitled to form its own view of the situation and to regard the failure as a sufficient basis for his dismissal.
186. In conclusion, I do not find Professor Parish’s evidence that there was no basis for the decision to be persuasive. 

In the light of this finding should Professor Parish’s dismissal be regarded as having been in the interests of the efficiency of the service? 
187. To answer this question, my task is to consider whether the Board’s decision in January 2005 (that Professor Parish’s contract was not terminated in the interests of efficiency) was properly reached. In such cases I do not substitute my own decision for that of the decision maker but I will consider whether the decision maker, in this case the employer, acted in accordance with its obligations.
188. NICE claim that, given my finding as to the true reasons for Professor Parish’s  dismissal, this question is res judicata as it has already been decided as between the parties by Stanley Burnton J.  Keith J found that the complaint which Professor Parish had asked my office to investigate (i.e. what the real reason for his dismissal had been and whether his dismissal for that reason should be regarded as having been in the interests of the efficiency of the service) was different from the one which had already been determined in the earlier claim for judicial review (see paragraph 38 of the Judgment.). It is not clear whether the judge regarded any part of the complaint as potentially res judicata although I note that he specifically referred , in paragraph 39, to the “hypothetical question” which he said the Board may well not have answered in the way that it did if it had known that the true reason for Professor Parish’s dismissal had had nothing to do with his performance.     
189. If NICE is correct then that is a complete answer to the question posed above and means that Professor Parish’s complaint fails in view of the decision of Stanley Burnton J that the Board had correctly construed the phrase “the member’s employment is terminated in the interests of the efficiency of the service in which he was employed” and that it was entitled to determine that the termination of his employment did not satisfy this requirement. 
190. But even if this is not the case, it makes no difference to the outcome of Professor Parish’s complaint as my decision in answer to the question is as follows.  
191. The Regulations distinguish between termination on grounds of redundancy and termination on grounds of efficiency. However, no definition is given of “efficiency”. The Guidelines provide some general help in identifying the latter cases but do not seem to me to be very useful in the case of an employee in Professor Parish’s situation. The examples given, to my mind, are really relevant to the average employee.  For instance, it would not be feasible for the steps envisaged by paragraph 2.15 of the Guidelines to be taken in the case of a chief executive in a very high profile position ( e.g. to be retrained or to transfer to other duties).   
192. Further, the Guidelines state specifically that the arrangements should not be used where an employee’s conduct “is in question”. Whether or not Professor Parish accepts the actions of the Board, there is no doubt that the Board regarded his conduct as being “in question” leading to a loss of confidence in him. 
193. The Regulations provide that a necessary condition for entitlement to an enhanced pension is that the employing authority agrees that the member’s employment is terminated in the interests of the efficiency of the service in which he is employed. However, the Agency’s power as the employing authority was not absolute and was subject to its overriding obligation to act in good faith towards Professor Parish and not to act irrationally. 
194. Professor Parish argues that the Agency acted in bad faith as it deliberately treated his dismissal as falling outside of the scope of the Regulations in order to deny him the benefit he claims to be entitled to. 
195. Although it might be said that dismissals usually take place for reasons of efficiency, there is in fact an essential difference between, for instance, a dismissal for reasons of redundancy and a dismissal for reasons of efficiency. This is why the Regulations distinguish between the two.    There is, similarly, an essential common sense difference between a dismissal in the interests of efficiency and a dismissal on grounds of performance. Even though the Guidelines envisage situations where there might be an overlap, such situations must, logically, be the exception and indeed the Guidelines say retirements in the interests of efficiency “should be rare”. 
196. For Professor Parish’s complaint to succeed, I would need to find that, on the balance of probabilities, the reasons for the termination of his employment fell so squarely into the category of “efficiency” so that no reasonable employer could have decided as the Agency did. I am unable to reach such a conclusion. 
197. I have found that the true reasons for the Board’s decision were those set out in the Second Report. These go beyond mere inefficiency. They go to the heart of the relationship between the Board and the chief executive. In the circumstance I am unable to conclude that the Board’s decision (that Professor Parish’s contract was not terminated in the interests of efficiency) was one that no reasonable decision maker could have reached.  
198. In relation to the Hypothetical Question, the Agency not only had an implied duty as his employer to act in good faith towards him in the way that it exercised its functions under the Regulations, it also had other obligations, as a recipient of public funds, to act in a financially responsible manner. As an employer it was also entitled to take its own financial interests into account in making such decisions. These were relevant and proper considerations and are not in themselves evidence of bad faith. It would equally have been open to criticism if it had simply reached a decision in order to ensure that he received an enhancement.  In summary, therefore, the Board was entitled to take into account the fact that an enhanced pension benefit would have a very severely damaging effect on its finances.
199. For all of the reasons given I do not uphold Professor Parish’s complaint.
JANE IRVINE 

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman 

25 March 2011 
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